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ployees: starting in June, 1952. Though
very grateful to Culver-Stockton College
and in full knowledge that the Society

could not have advanced thus far without
the school's support, it was believed that
the Society could not completely fulfill its
mission without becoming a separate institu-
tion in its own right. Other offers, mostly
from colleges and seminaries, were con-
sidered at the time by the Executive Com-
mittee; these were carefully evaluated. It
was the consensus of opinion, however, that
the Nashville offer had the most advantages.
The Nashville committee of citizens,
headed by Forrest F. Reed, proposed to
raise $55,000 to support the Society until
its own financial program could get under
way. In addition to this the Joint Uni-
versity Libraries on the Vanderbilt Uni-
versity campus agreed to house the
archives, rent-free, for five years. These
practical features, plus the enthusiasm of
the Nashville people, especially Eva Jean
Wrather, and the fact that there were no
other agencies of the Disciples with head-
quarters in the South, were major factors in
determining the decision. It proved to be
a wise move, as later events will show.

Structure and Organization

Under its original constitution the So-
ciety was under the control of a Board of
Directors. The president, vice president,
secretary-treasurer, and curator were the

staff: Claude W. P. Har-

Buder.

« Full-time
man, Christine

E. Spencer,

PREPARING FOR DALLAS ...
AND THE SOCIETY'S
ANNIVERSARY DINNER

J. Edward Moseley, who became the So-
ciety's first president when DCHS was
organized in 1941, will be the featured
speaker when the Society observes its twenty-
fifth Anniversary in Dallas, September 26.
He came from Indianapolis last month to
spend several days in the Thomas W. Phillips
Memorial preparing his address which will
be entitled "Immersed in History." The
Dinner will be held at the Adolphus Hotel.

officers of the Board. A small executive
committee with authority to act for the
Board on an ad interim basis between regu-
lar meetings was appointed each year.
J. Edward Moseley was president of the
Board of Directors from 1941 to 1947, and
W. E. Garrison, from 1947 to 1950. Ronald
E. Osborn was president at the time of the
Nashville decision and served until the
constitution was revised so that it would
be a better working document in view of
full-time operation. W. P. Harman, who
had been national director of public rela-
tions since January 1, 1951, resigned in
September, 1952, to accept another position.
He was succeeded by James E. McKinney
as executive director, beginning February
9, 1953.

A new post of honorary president was
created under the amended constitution. It
was designed as an annual honor to bestow
on persons who made outstanding contri-
butions in the field of Disciples' history.
W. E. Garrison, "dean" of Disciples' hiis-
torians, was the first honorary president.

He served in the 1953-1954 fiscal year.
Other "honorary" presidents have been
Colby D. Hall (1954-1955), Stephen J.
England (1955-1956), Louis A. Warren

(1956-1957), and Lin D. Cartwright (1957-
1958). An annual "President's Dinner" was
given in the fall of each year. These were
always pleasant occasions with citations and
special recognitions often being given at
this time. Under the amended constitution
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the Board of Directors was responsible to
the Society for its operation and the chair-
man of this board was the key man in
the structure. William G. West held this
position during this period; J. Edward
Moseley was chairman in 1958. An execu-
tive committee made up of the four officers
of the Society and three directors governed
Society affairs between meetings of the
Directors.

The Thomas W. Phillips Memorial

When the move was made to Nashville
in April, 1952, some 11,000 volumes apart
from the Robison collection and other items
given specifically to the Society were de-
posited in a room in the Joint University
Libraries, a rocm which served also as So-
ciety headquarters. Aware that occupation
here had a time limit the Society began to
make plans for quarters of its own. Property
on Grand Avenue which included residence
buildings and adjoining lots were acquired.
One home was remodeled for temporary
library use until a modest structure could be
erected. Preliminary plans were actually
made for this structure, when, due to the

Thomas W. Phillips as shown in an oil painting
in the foyer of the Thomas W. Phillips Me-

morial.

generosity of B. D. Phillips of Butler,
Pennsylvania, it was possible to purchase
lots for the permanent building in a central
location in the university complex on Nine-
teenth Avenue, South. Announcement of a
large gift from the Phillips family for a build-
ing as a memorial to Thomas W. Phillips, Sr.,
Disciple philanthropist, layman, and author
was made in 1955. B. D. Phillips, T. W.
Phillips, Jr., and other members of the
Phillips family agreed to finance the entire
cost of a Gothic-designed, air-conditioned,
fireproof building. No one had ever
dreamed that such a building was in the
future for the Society, and the whole
brotherhood was overjoyed at the prospect.
Hoffman and Crumpton, Pittsburgh archi-
tects, designed the building. Puryear Mims
of Nashville was sculptor of the Cenotaph
and stone shields; Gus Baker, also of Nash-
ville, was designer and executor of the
stained glass medallions. The fine arts and
inscriptions committee,” through research
and consultation with authorities, gave
superb leadership to this phase of the build-
ing design. Charles E. Crouch of Nashville
served as chairman of the building com-
mittee. Cornerstone laying ceremonies took
place on April 25, 1956.

In June, 1958, it was announced that the
new million dollar Thomas W. Phillips
Memorial building would be dedicated in
a three day program, September 12-14
1958. The principal dedication speaker was
Lawrence G. Derthick, United States Com-
missioner of Education, and an active
Disciple layman. Among other speakers
were Howard E. Short, Lin D. Cartwright,
and J. Edward Moseley. On various oc-
casions during the three day dedication ac-
tivities those who had large responsibilities
in the building program were awarded
recognition and honor. V.LP.s from all
areas in brotherhood life were present at the
ceremonies, and all were proud and happy
concerning the contribution the Thomas W.
Phillips Memorial made to the Disciples’
movement and to religion in America. In
seventeen years, from an inauspicious be-
ginning in one room at Canton, Missouri,
the Society had moved into a spacious,

5 Committee: Eva Jean Wrather, chairman;
Howard E. Short, Ronald E. Osborn.
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beautiful, and functional building, one of
the finest in the South. Best of all, because
of the generosity of the Phillips family, it
was free from all capital indebtedness. It
is doubtful if any other religious group in
America, in a similar program, ever
achieved so much in so short a period of
time.
Leadership Personnel

Because of the expanded program of the
Society after the move to Nashville the in-
come never quite caught up with the in-
crease in operating expenses. It was neces-
sary to launch a campaign to try to erase
the deficit in 1958. The current expense
deficit never became an impossible problem
but it caused serious concern. James E.
McKinney, executive director since 1953 and
through the Grand Avenue and the Thomas
W.  Phillips Memorial projects, resigned
in September, 1958. It then became neces-
sary to seek for his successor. In the
meantime, a new constitution had been
adopted which was to go into effect on
January 1, 1959. The new constitution
anticipated a change in structure for the
Society which was in line with the growth
and responsibility of the organization. In-
stead of a large Board of Directors an
eighteen member Board of Trustees (in-
creased to twenty-four in 1961) was pro-
vided. Under the new constitution the chief
administrative officer would be a full-time
president who would be assisted by such
other officers as were appointed by the

Board of Trustees. Charles E. Crouch was
named acting interim president in the
spring and summer of 1959 until the new
executive president could take office. Willis
R. Jones who had wide experience in the
field of higher education of the Disciples,
then director of church relations at Hiram
College, was selected for this position. He
began his work with the Society on August
1, 1959. Claude E. Spencer, curator, was
then free to devote his entire time to the
service aspects of the program. This was a
big order for both Jones and Spencer be-
cause the Society was seriously understaffed
and undersupported during the first years
in the new quarters. Both men made heroic
and sacrificial efforts to make the program
measure up to the grand image projected
by the magnificent building.

Financial Undergirding

The Society entered Unified Promotion of
the Disciples of Christ on July 1, 1958.
Since apportionments were designated pri-
marily on the basis of prior operating ex-
penses it was necessary to seek additional
gift income from individuals in the form of
special memberships and in other ways.
Unified Promotion apportionments have in-
creased during the years, have provided a
basic minimum support, but have never
been commensurate with needs. It was ap-
parent all along that it was necessary to
establish a permanent fund so that invested
earnings could be used for Society support.
The Disciples of Christ Historical Founda-

The first check from Unified Promotion was received in September 1958. About two-thirds of
the Society's day to day expenses are supported through Unified Promotion.
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tion came into existence in 1961 for this
explicit purpose. Mr. and Mrs. J. Edward
Moseley and members of the Moseley
family made the first gift of $1,000 to the
Foundation in memory of their parents,
J. E. and Addie F. Moseley. Because of the
generosity of additional donors the assets of
this fund reached $22,136 as of June 30,
1965.

Increase in Staff

The addition of Woodrow W. Wasson to
the full-time professional staff of the Society
was made on July 1, 1962. He became the
Society’s first archivist. Prior to this and
since 1959 he had been engaged in research
projects and in the indexing of the Chris-
tian-Evangelist. His new responsibility in-
cluded processing, evaluating and arranging
records, manuscripts, and private papers.
Dr. Wasson resigned in 1965 to become
head of the Special Collections Department
of Joint University Libraries and archivist
at Vanderbilt University. In September,
1963, Marvin D. Williams, Jr., was added
to the staff as the first cataloger of the
Society. He was named head of technical

Harry M. Davis and Claude E. Spencer (left
to right) chat in the DCHS booth at a recent
International Convention.

services in 1965; in 1966 he became direc-
tor of the library. Mr. Williams received
his theological training at Christian The-
ological Seminary and his professional
training in library science at George Pea-
body College.

The Curator Honored

Claude E. Spencer, curator of the Dis-
ciples of Christ Historical Society since its
founding in 1941, retired on June 30, 1965.
A retirement recognition dinner was held in
his honor on May 10, 1965. Some one hun-
dred fifteen of his friends and colleagues
from all over America gathered at the
Thomas W. Phillips Memorial to honor him.
By act of the Board of Trustees he was

named curator emeritus. A special issue of

DiscreLiana (July, 1965) paid tribute to
his distinguished service as the first and only
curator for nearly a quarter of a century.
Claude E. Spencer, probably more than any
other person in recent times, succeeded in
awakening Disciples to their unique history.
The historical society, as long as it exists,
will be a witness to his vision.

NEW LIFE MEMBERS

226. Bader, Mrs. Jesse M., New York,
N.Y. By Mrs. Bader in honor
and memory of Dr. Bader.

227. Kenner, Dr. Dan C. Little
Rock, Ark. In his honor by the
First Christian Church of Little
Rock, Ark.

228. McCallister, Dr. Raymond,
Glendale, Mo. In his honor by
the Webster Groves Christian
Church, Webster Groves, Mo.

229. Shaw, Dr. Henry K., Indian-
apolis, Ind. In his honor by
friends.

230. Shaw, Mrs. Henry K., Indianap-
olis, Ind. In her honor by
friends.

231. Thompson, Ernest E., Indianap-

olis, Ind. In his honor by the
Third Christian Church, In-
dianapolis, Ind.
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New Leaders—New Responsibilities

The Board of Trustees met semiannually
for regular sessions after 1959. Harry M.
Davis was chairman of this group from
1959 to 1962. Forrest F. Reed was elected
to this position in 1962 and is now serving
his fourth term. A small Executive Com-
mittee meets more frequently to look after
the affairs of the Society in the interims
between regular sessions.

Harold C. Kime, who had been serving
the Society on a part-time basis, working
with local church newsletters and audio-
visual materials, became interim curator the
last six months of 1965. By action of the
Board of Trustees, Willis R. Jones, presi-
dent since 1959, was asked to become
president-curator as of January 1, 1966. Ben
R. Biddy, a student assistant at the Society
for the past eighteen months, became as-
sistant librarian. The new appointments
involved a shifting of responsibilities and
duties. Though still understaffed and un-
dersupported financially the Society con-
tinues to be a big operation. It closes its
twenty-fifth year with appreciation for the
past but looks to even greater achievements
in the future.

Ben R. Biddy photo
Over 180 persons attended the annual DCHS
Tennessee Assembly breakfast at Oak Ridge on

Sunday morning, April 24. Following Louis
Cochran's talk on "The Private Life of Alexander
Campbell," three Memphis Disciples chatted for
a moment. Pictured are left to right: Mrs.
Joseph R. Bennett, Mr. Bennett, and John A.

Laws.

Dr. Dan C. Kenner (right) receives his Life
Membership certificate from Forrest F. Reed,
Chairman of the DCHS Board of Trustees at a
special Dinner Meeting held at the First Chris-
tian Church in Little Rock on April 13. The
membership was a gift from the Little Rock

congregation to their pastor Dr. Kenner. The
occasion was a midweek dinner meeting which
featured an address on the importance of history

by Mr. Reed.

ALL DCHS CARRELS OCCUPIED

All eight study carrels at the Thomas W.
Phillips Memorial are in use and have been
since last fall. Twelve researchers have
come to the Society since the first of the
year and seven are still engaged in their
research,

Researchers since the first of the year are
as follows: Joseph Bennett, pastor, Frayser
Christian Church, Memphis; James Carpen-
ter, student, Divinity School, Vanderbilt
University, Nashville; Danny F. Cottrell,
student, Harding Seminary, Memphis, Ten-
nessee; Phil Elkins, student, Hartford Sem-
inary, Hartford; Earl Eugene Eminizer,
faculty, Youngstown University, Youngs-
town, Ohio; John Gregory, student, Divinity
School, Vanderbilt University; Mark Hicks,
student, Divinity School, Vanderbilt Uni-
versity; Harold E. Hinds, student, Divinity
School, Vanderbilt University; Randel O.
Martin, student, Lexington Theological
Seminary, Lexington, Kentucky; Richard
Phillips, faculty, Lincoln Christian Seminary,
Lincoln, Illinois; James L. Sankey, student,
Trevecca Nazarene College, Nashville; Wal-
ter W. Sikes, faculty, Divinity School, Van-
derbilt University.
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LUNENBURG LETTER
REPRINT AVAILABLE

With the republication of the popular
Lunenburg Letter, by Alexander Campbell,
the Society’s entire Footnotes to Disciple
History series is once more available.

The Lunenburg Letter, with Attendant
Comments is a facsimile reprint of articles
by Alexander Campbell which appeared in
The Millennial Harbinger in September, No-
vember and December 1837.

Sometimes called “Any Christians among
Protestant Parties,” the discussion was
elicited by a letter from a lady in Lunen-
burg, Virginia who had been disturbed by
statements in the Harbinger that you “find
in all Protestant parties Christians.” This is
the third printing of this number in the
Footnotes to Disciple History series. It was
first published in 1953.

Other titles in the series are Alexander
Campbell and His Relevance for Today, by
Eva Jean Wrather and Barton Warren Stone
and Christian Unity, by William Garrett
West. Completing the series are An Address
to the Different Religious Societies, on the
Sacred Import of the Christian Name, by
Rice Haggard and Report of the Proceed-
ings of a General Meeting of Messengers,
by J. T. M’Vay and Alexander Campbell.

The Lunenburg Letter and Rice Hag-
gard’s Address are priced at 35¢ each. All
the other pamphlets are 25¢ each. The com-
plete set of Footnotes is available for $1.30.
Orders and correspondence should be ad-
dressed to Director of the Library, Dis-
ciples of Christ Historical Society, 1101
Nineteenth Avenue South, Nashville, Ten-
nessee 37212.

Thomas P. Inabinett photo

A distinguished delegation from Indianapolis visited DCHS on April 18. They had come to
Nashville to attend meetings of the Convention of the Religious Public Relations Council. They

are seen here being greeted by President Willis R. Jones at the cenotaph. From left to right:
Dr. Jones, Thomas P. Inabinett, Robert H. McNeill, James C. Suggs, Mrs. Donald R. Bowles,
Mrs. Evylin R. Gribble, Miss Rose H. Wright, Mrs. C. A. Weesner, and Mr. Weesner.
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Editorial . . .
(continued from page 18)

stimulus and leadership of Shirley Jackson
Case of Chicago. Disciples were a part of
this invasion and the consequent awakening
reached a wide circle of Disciple scholars
and students. The interest spread to non-
academic circles. The Disciples of Christ
Historical Society came in the fullness of
time.

Finally, the Phillips Memorial Building,
the amazingly beautiful and commodious
home of our Society, has given both prestige
and high visibility to the importance of
history, and has provided a working
center in which all strains of the Campbell-
Stone tradition —whether “cooperative,”
“non-cooperative,” or “Churches of Christ”
— can meet on common ground and equal
terms to study their common heritage and
begin to knit up the raveled fabric of their

unity.

Though the Historical Society, like any
similar organization, may seem to be pre-
occupied with the past, its deepest interest
is in the present and its orientation is to-
ward the future. Its concern is not chiefly
antiquarian but anticipatory. Disciples on
all fronts are now making history faster

NEW ANNUAL MEMBERS

Boyce, Thomas W., Nashville, Tenn.

Bush, L. E., Nashville, Tenn.

Carpenter, L. H., Wabash, Ind.

Coburn, Walter H., Hebron, Ind.

Crandall, Bradford F., Nashville,
Tenn.

Hanna, J. C., Kansas City, Mo.

Hays, Mrs. Louis F., Nashville, Tenn.

Laws, John A., Memphis, Tenn.

Lipscomb, Miss Vanda, Little Rock,
Ark.

Milburn, J. B., Little Rock, Ark.

Ringham, Rev. Lester A., Anderson,
Ind.

Smith, Mrs. Edith W., Des Moines,
Towa

Turner, Robert T., Nashville, Tenn.

Winter, Miss Edna R., Willoughby,
Ohio.

than it can be written or its records con-
served. The Society is neither an opinion
molder nor a policy maker; but those who
are leading the advance will know better
where they are going and will advance with
more security if they know where we have
already been and what inherited resources
they have to guide and support their efforts.
If the Historical Society is not “on the
firing line,” from its position in the non-
combat zone it can “praise the Lord and
pass the ammunition” to those who are.

We are going to enjoy this birthday
immensely, and perhaps take a day off for
celebration and mutual congratulation; but
there is so much unfinished business and
new business not yet undertaken, and the
future beckons so urgently, that the His-
torical Society cannot spend much time
thinking about its first twenty-five years. It
must get on with its work. Pretty soon it
will be having a Semi-centennial.

B

The first copy in original covers of volume one,
number one of the Millennial Harbinger (Jan-
uary 4, 1830) was recently brought to DCHS
by Mr. and Mrs. Ray M. Wolford of North
Olmstead, Ohio. This was the first copy of this
issue ever seen in original cover by the staff.
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Ben R. Biddy photo

Irven Pope (center) purchases the first copy of Quest for a Christian America, by David Edwin
Harrell, Jr. Making the sale is Sherman Hanson (right) of the Christian Board of Publication.
Willis R. Jones, DCHS president, looks on. The book was released to the public during the first
assembly of the Tennessee Association of Christian Churches at Oak Ridge in late April. Orders
for the book at $5.95 each are now being received at the Society.

Materials belonging to the late Jesse M. Bader have been given to the Society by
Mrs. Jesse M. Bader of New York City. Included are manuscripts, mementos,
personal correspondence, photos and scrapbooks. Especially well covered are the
evangelistic aspects of Dr. Bader’s activities.
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Historic and informative materials are coming to DCHS at an unprecedented pace. Note stories
on pages 38 through 46.
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Editorial . . .

On June 30 of each year, when I review
the report of the Society’s activities for
the preceding twelve months, I conclude
anew that the Disciples of Christ Historical
Society is a modern instance of the Parable
of the Talents.

This year the comparisons were even
more dramatic for we are observing our
twenty-fifth anniversary and we are remem-
bering the developments of this institution
across this brief expanse of time, to wit:

On June 30, 1941 the Society had no
home of its own, no materials of its
own, no staff members on its payroll,
and a budget of about $25.00 which
came from memberships which sold for
$1.00 each, and which had attracted
no more than twenty-five persons.

On June 30, 1966, the Society had the
finest building of its kind in American
Protestantism, one of the most notable
collections of religious Americana
extant, an employed family of thirteen
members (six part-time), a budget of
$75,000, supported by the brotherhood
as a whole through Unified Promotion
(two thirds), by gifts (individual,
foundation, etc.), and by a membership
of 840, ranging in cost from $2.50 for
student memberships to $1000 for Life
Patron memberships.

DCHS, A Modern Instance

of The Parable of the Talents

By WILLIS R. JONES

The Society is a thrilling story of persons
working and giving in faith and in unity
of purpose. If during the course of any
year, our urgent needs and our unfulfilled
dreams loom so large as to depress our spirit,
as indeed they do, we know even then that
we can always focus our attention on the
gains and not on the failures and thereby
secure a sense of immediate optimism and
of renewed hope.

The year which ended on June 30 illus-
trates the point. There were times within the
year when it depressed us deeply to see
all of the needs which we could not fulfill
because there were no funds to pay for the
necessary staff—vast accumulations of old,
unprocessed materials, an increasing brother-
hood dependence on DCHS services at a
pace far outweighing its increase in staff.

However, even as we were experiencing
these painful frustrations, the Society was
having the greatest year in its history. More
materials were received than in any previous
year, and they were no less distinguished
for their quality than for their quantity.
More materials were processed than in any
previous year, and for the first time in our
history the Society was completely up to
date in the handling of its local church
bulletins and newsletters.

(continued on page 50)
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